

LANSING BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS FINANCE COMMITTEE MEETING Tuesday, September 12, 2023 – 6:00 P.M. Board of Water & Light Headquarters – REO Town Depot 1201 S. Washington Ave., Lansing, MI 48910

Finance Committee: Sandra Zerkle, Committee Chairperson; Beth Graham; David Price; and Dale Schrader; Alternates: Semone James, Tracy Thomas; Non-Voting: J. R. Beauboeuf, Robert Worthy, Brian Pillar

BWL full meeting packets and public notices/agendas are located on the official web site at <u>https://www.lbwl.com/about-bwl/governance.</u>

AGENDA

Call to Order

Roll Call

Public Comments on Agenda Items

1.	Finance Committee Meeting Minutes of July 11, 2023	TAB 1
2.	July YTD Financial Summary	INFORMATION ONLY
3.	Clean Energy Projects Bond Resolution	TAB 2
4.	Retirement Plan Committee (RPC) Update a. DB Plan Investment Policy Statement Revision and Resolution b. VEBA Plan Investment Policy Statement Revision and Resolution	ТАВ За
5.	Rate Update	INFORMATION ONLY
6.	Revised Purchasing Card (P-Card) Procedure	INFORMATION ONLY

Other

Adjourn

FINANCE COMMITTEE Meeting Minutes July 11, 2023

Finance Committee: Dusty Horwitt, Committee Chairperson; Semone James; David Price; and Sandra Zerkle; Alternates: Anthony Mullen, Tracy Thomas; Non-Voting: Commissioners Douglas Jester, Brian Pillar, Robert Worthy.

The Finance Committee of the Board of Water and Light (BWL) met at the BWL Headquarters – REO Town Depot, located at 1201 S. Washington Ave., Lansing, MI on Tuesday, July 11, 2023.

Finance Committee Chairperson Dusty Horwitt called the meeting to order at 7:40 p.m. and asked the Corporate Secretary to call the roll.

Present: Commissioners Dusty Horwitt, Semone James, David Price, and Sandra Zerkle, Alternate: Tracy Thomas; also present: Commissioners Beth Graham and DeShon Leek; and Non-Voting Commissioner Douglas Jester. Absent: None.

The Corporate Secretary declared a quorum.

Public Comments

There were no public comments.

Approval of Minutes

Motion by Commissioner David Price, **Seconded** by Commissioner Semone James, to approve the Finance Committee Meeting minutes of May 9, 2023. **Action:** Motion Carried.

May YTD Financial Summary

CFO Heather Shawa presented the May YTD Financial Summary.

Commissioner Sandra Zerkle asked where the renewable portfolio applied to the \$750 million budget that was recently passed. General Manger Dick Peffley and CFO Heather Shawa responded that the renewable portfolio would be included in a future budget and budget forecast when approved.

Commissioner Beth Graham asked whether the recruitment campaigns that were run were helpful and a cause of the increase in employees. General Manager Dick Peffley responded that the increase in line worker, apprentice and administrative support applicants was a direct effect of the campaigns.

Capital Project Report

CFO Heather Shawa presented the Capital Project Report. There were no comments or questions from Commissioners.

Drinking Water State Revolving Fund (DWSRF) Bond Resolution

Accounting, Finance & Planning Director, Scott Taylor, presented the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Bond Resolution and requested the resolution to execute the bond issuance be forwarded to the full Board for approval.

Motion by Commissioner Semone James, **Seconded** by Commissioner Dusty Horwitt, to forward the Resolution for the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund (DWSRF) Bond to the full Board for consideration.

Action: Motion Carried.

Retirement Plan Committee (RPC) Update

CFO Heather Shawa presented the RPC update. An annual orientation presentation will be given by Marie Mireles, LBWL Associate Attorney II, at a Retirement Planning Committee meeting that will be held on July 12, 2023 with all the new members. CFO Heather Shawa added that a request was made for the Retirement Plan Committee to have access to the Commissioner's Dashboard portal to post and review its meeting information, documents and materials.

Bi-Annual Internal Audit Open Management Responses Update

Elisha Franco, Internal Control Supervisor, presented the Bi-Annual Internal Audit Open Management Responses Update.

Commissioner Sandra Zerkle asked how PA-95 would be measured for assistance to the local area and what results would be considered reasonable. CFO Heather Shawa responded that after the first year the data and results would be evaluated. General Manager Dick Peffley responded that BWL's expectation is that the money contributed will be the money returned and that the results will be brought to the Board of Commissioners.

P-Card Procedure Modifications Resolution

Chairperson Horwitt presented the P-Card Procedure Modifications resolution and the Committee agreed to forward as amended to the full Board for consideration. The resolution modifies the purchasing card policy for the Board's Appointed Employees.

Motion by Commissioner David Price, **Seconded** by Commissioner Dusty Horwitt to accept the resolution as written and forward to the full Board for consideration.

A discussion followed regarding oversight of monthly spending for the General Manager, Corporate Secretary, and Internal Auditor.

CFO Heather Shawa requested two grammatical changes be made to the resolution, to remove "to add the following" after "RESOLUTION 2015-07-04 is hereby amended" and add "as follows"; and to change the "Travel and Reimbursement Policy" to "Travel and Expense Policy."

Action: Motion Failed.

The P-Card Procedure Modifications Resolution will be revised and brought before the full Board.

<u>Other</u>

There was no other business.

<u>Adjourn</u>

Chairperson Dusty Horwitt adjourned the meeting at 8:30 p.m.

Respectfully submitted, Dusty Horwitt, Chairperson Finance Committee

Lansing Board of Water and Light

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING NOTICE OF INTENT TO ISSUE REVENUE BONDS FOR CLEAN ENERGY PROJECTS AND RELATED SYSTEM IMPROVEMENTS

- Notice of Intent to Issue Revenue Bonds in an amount not-to-exceed \$325,000,000 to finance clean energy projects and other System improvements.
- Declaration of intent to reimburse expenditures from Revenue Bond proceeds.

WHEREAS, the City of Lansing (the "City") provides in its City Charter that the Lansing Board of Water and Light (the "Board") has general management over water, heat, steam and electric services and certain additional utility services of the City, and the Board operates facilities for the supply and distribution of water and the generation and distribution of electricity, steam, chilled water, and heat, including all plants, works, instrumentalities and properties used or useful in connection with the supply and distribution of water and the generation and distribution of electricity, steam, chilled water, and heat (the "System"); and

WHEREAS, the Revenue Bond Act, Act 94, Public Acts of Michigan, 1933, as amended ("Act 94") permits the Board to issue revenue bonds payable solely from the net revenues derived from the operation of the System (the "Revenue Bonds") in order to finance plants, works, instrumentalities, and properties used or useful in connection with utility systems such as the System; and

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that it is necessary for the public health, safety and welfare of the City and the users of the System to acquire and construct System improvements including, but not limited to, clean energy projects including a natural gas reciprocating engine, battery storage, solar and wind energy improvements, energy waste reduction improvements and enhancements to improve demand response for customers, as well as construction, improvement and renovation of transmission and distribution lines and related System facilities, including all equipment and any appurtenances and attachments thereto and any related site acquisition or improvements (collectively, the "Project"); and

WHEREAS, issuance of revenue bonds as permitted by Act 94 in an amount not-to-exceed Three Hundred Twenty-Five Million Dollars (\$325,000,000) (the "Revenue Bonds") represents the most practical means to finance the Project and the funding of any required bond reserve funds, capitalized interest and costs of issuance of the Revenue Bonds; and

WHEREAS, a notice of intent to issue revenue bonds must be published before the issuance of the Revenue Bonds in order to comply with the requirements of Section 33 of Act 94; and

WHEREAS, the Internal Revenue Service has issued Treasury Regulation § 1.150-2 pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, governing proceeds of debt used for reimbursement, pursuant to which the Board must declare official intent to reimburse expenditures with proceeds of such debt before making the expenditures.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT:

1. <u>Publication of Notice of Intent</u>. The Board shall publish a notice of intent to issue the Revenue Bonds once as a display advertisement at least one-quarter (1/4) page in size in substantially the following form:

NOTICE TO ELECTORS OF THE CITY OF LANSING OF INTENT TO ISSUE REVENUE BONDS FOR CLEAN ENERGY PROJECTS AND RELATED SYSTEM IMPROVEMENTS <u>AND RIGHT TO PETITION FOR REFERENDUM</u>

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the Lansing Board of Water and Light intends to authorize the issuance and sale of bonds (the "Revenue Bonds") pursuant to Act 94, Public Acts of Michigan, 1933, as amended, payable solely from revenues received by the Board from the operations of the Water Supply, Steam, Chilled Water and Electric Utility System (the "System"). The Revenue Bonds would be authorized in the maximum aggregate principal amount of not-to-exceed Three Hundred Twenty-Five Million Dollars (\$325,000,000) for the purpose of paying costs to acquire and construct System improvements including, but not limited to, clean energy projects including a natural gas reciprocating engine, battery storage, solar and wind energy improvements, energy waste reduction improvements and enhancements to improve demand response for customers, as well as construction, improvement and renovation of transmission and distribution lines and related System facilities, including all equipment and any appurtenances and attachments thereto and any related site acquisition or improvements. Costs financed with proceeds of the Revenue Bonds may include funding of required bond reserve funds, capitalized interest and costs of issuance of the Revenue Bonds.

SOURCE OF PAYMENT OF REVENUE BONDS

THE PRINCIPAL OF AND INTEREST ON THE REVENUE BONDS SHALL BE PAYABLE solely from the net revenues received by the Board from the operations of the System. The revenues will consist of rates, fees and charges billed to the users of the System, a schedule of which is presently on file at www.lbwl.com. The rates, fees and charges may from time to time be revised to provide sufficient net revenues to provide for the expenses of operating and maintaining the System, to pay the principal of and interest on the Revenue Bonds and any other bonds of the System, and to pay other obligations of the System. The Revenue Bonds will not pledge the full faith and credit of the City. The Revenue Bonds will not be a general obligation of the City.

The Revenue Bonds may be issued in one or more series and may be combined with bonds issued for other purposes, and each series will mature in not to exceed thirty (30) annual installments with interest at such interest rate or rates to be determined at public or negotiated sale but in no event to exceed such rates as may be permitted by law.

RIGHT OF REFERENDUM

THE REVENUE BONDS WILL BE ISSUED WITHOUT VOTE OF THE ELECTORS UNLESS A VALID PETITION REQUESTING AN ELECTION ON THE QUESTION OF ISSUING THE REVENUE BONDS, SIGNED BY NOT LESS THAN 10% OF THE REGISTERED ELECTORS OF THE CITY, IS FILED WITH THE CITY CLERK OF THE CITY OF LANSING WITHIN FORTY-FIVE (45) DAYS AFTER THE DATE OF PUBLICATION OF THIS NOTICE. If a valid petition is filed, the Revenue Bonds cannot be issued unless approved by a majority vote of the electors of the City voting on the question of their issuance. This notice is given pursuant to the requirements of Section 33 of Act 94, Public Acts of Michigan, 1933, as amended.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION may be obtained at the administrative offices of the Lansing Board of Water and Light, 1201 S. Washington Ave., Lansing, Michigan 48910.

LaVella J. Todd, Corporate Secretary Lansing Board of Water and Light 2. <u>Sufficiency of Notice</u>. The Corporate Secretary is hereby directed to publish the notice of intent in *The Lansing State Journal*, a newspaper of general circulation in the City qualified under State law to publish legal notices, which is hereby determined to be the newspaper that will reach the largest number of persons to whom the notice is directed. The Board hereby determines that the notice of intent and the manner of publication directed is the method best calculated to give notice to the electors of the City and the users of the System of the Board's intent to issue the Revenue Bonds, the purposes of the Revenue Bonds, the source of payment of the Revenue Bonds, and the right of referendum relating thereto.

3. <u>Statement of Intent under Treas. Reg. § 1.150-2</u>. The Board hereby makes the following declaration of intent for the purpose of complying with the reimbursement rules of Treas. Reg. § 1.150-2 pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended:

(1) The Board reasonably expects to reimburse itself for the expenditures described in (2) below with proceeds of debt to be incurred by the Board.

(2) The expenditures described in this paragraph (2) are to pay certain costs associated with the Project which were or will be paid subsequent to sixty (60) days prior to the date hereof or which will be paid prior to the issuance of the debt from the funds of the System.

(3) As of the date hereof, the maximum principal amount of debt expected to be issued for reimbursement purposes, including reimbursement of debt issuance costs, is \$325,000,000, which debt may be issued in one or more series and/or together with debt for other purposes.

(4) A reimbursement allocation of the expenditures described in paragraph (2) above with the proceeds of the borrowing described herein will occur not later than 18 months after the later of (i) the date on which the expenditure is paid, or (ii) the date the Project is placed in service or abandoned, but in no event more than three (3) years after the original expenditure is paid. A reimbursement allocation is an allocation in writing that evidences the Board's use of the proceeds of the debt to be issued for the Project to reimburse the Board for a capital expenditure made pursuant to this Resolution.

(5) The expenditures for the Project are "capital expenditures" as defined in Treas. Reg. § 1.150-1(b), which are any costs of a type which are properly chargeable to a capital account (or would be so chargeable with a proper election or with the application of the definition of "placed in service" under Treas. Reg. § 1.150-2(c)) under general Federal income tax principles (as determined at the time the expenditure is paid).

(6) No proceeds of the borrowing paid to the Board in reimbursement pursuant to this Resolution will be used in a manner described in Treas. Reg. § 1.150-2(h) with respect to abusive uses of such proceeds, including, but not limited to, using funds corresponding to the proceeds of the borrowing in a manner that results in the creation of replacement proceeds (within Treas. Reg. § 1.148-1) within one year of the reimbursement allocation described in paragraph (4) above.

4. <u>Financial Advisor</u>. The Board hereby requests that Public Financial Management, LLC continue to serve the Board as Financial Advisor for the Revenue Bonds, including any bond anticipation notes which the Board might authorize in a future resolution.

5. <u>Bond Counsel</u>. The Board hereby requests that Miller, Canfield, Paddock and Stone, P.L.C., Lansing, Michigan, continue to serve the Board as bond counsel for the Revenue Bonds, including any bond anticipation notes which the Board might authorize in a future resolution. The Board

acknowledges that Miller, Canfield, Paddock and Stone, P.L.C. has represented from time to time, and currently represents various underwriters, financial institutions, and other potential participants in the bond financing process, in matters not related to the issuance and sale of the Revenue Bonds.

6. <u>Conflicting Resolutions</u>. All resolutions and parts of resolutions insofar as they conflict with the provisions of this resolution are hereby rescinded.

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and complete copy of a resolution duly adopted by the Board of Commissioners of the Lansing Board of Water and Light, at a Regular meeting held on Tuesday, September 26, 2023, at 5:30 p.m., Eastern Time, and that said meeting was conducted and public notice of said meeting was given pursuant to and in full compliance with the Open Meetings Act, being Act 267, Public Acts of Michigan, 1976, and that the minutes of said meeting were kept and will be or have been made available as required by said Act 267.

I further certify that the following Members were present at said meeting:

_____ and that the following Members were absent:

I further certify that Member ______ moved for adoption of said resolution and that Member ______ supported said motion.

I further certify that the following Members voted for adoption of said resolution:

_____ and that the following Members voted against adoption of said resolution: _____.

Corporate Secretary

41037585.2/101173.00039

LANSING BOARD OF WATER AND LIGHT DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN AND TRUST FOR EMPLOYEES' PENSIONS

STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT POLICIES, PROCEDURES AND OBJECTIVES

Effective September 26, 2023

STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT POLICIES, PROCEDURES AND OBJECTIVES

Table of Contents

Section	<u>Page</u>
Introduction Updates to Statement Trustees Purpose of the Plan Investment Philosophy Delegation of Responsibilities Retirement Plan Committee	3 4 4 4 4
Investment Advisor Investment Manager(s) Custodian	7
Plan Investment Policy	9
Plan Investment Objectives	10
Asset Allocation Policy	10
Administrative and Investment Review Procedures Review of Policies General Review Review of Investment Performance Rebalancing Policy – Overall Fund Allocation Review of Investment Management Proxy Voting Directed Brokerage Tenure Conclusion	
Glossary of Investment Terms	16

Introduction

The Lansing Board of Water and Light ("**BWL**") is a municipal utility providing drinking water, electricity, steam and chilled water services to the greater Lansing area in mid-Michigan. The Plan receives contributions from the BWL. The Plan pays retirement benefits provided for in the Plan. Plan assets are invested in various types of securities.

This Statement of Investment Policy ("**Statement**") is issued by the Commissioners of the Lansing Board of Water and Light (the "**Commissioners**") for the Lansing Board of Water and Light Defined Benefit Plan and Trust for Employees' Pensions ("**Plan**"). The purpose of this Statement is to (i) identify and present a set of investment objectives, an Asset Allocation policy, investment performance standards and procedures for managing the Plan's assets; and (ii) clarify the delegation of certain investment and administrative duties to the Committee (the "Committee"). This document is intended to be consistent with the provisions of Michigan Public Act 314 of 1965 ("**Act 314**"), as amended.

Updates to Statement

The Commissioners retain the authority to approve, revise and update this Statement as necessary to ensure that it is consistent with the BWL's investment philosophy. Any revisions or updates made to the Statement must be formally adopted by the Commissioners through a resolution.

Trustees' and Commissioners' Delegation of Duties

The Commissioners have delegated certain administrative responsibilities to the Committee pursuant to a separate Resolution. Those responsibilities are described in more detail in this Statement.

The Trustees of the Plan are the eight appointed voting Commissioners of the BWL. The Trustees have delegated all investment responsibilities to the Committee pursuant to a separate Resolution. Those investment responsibilities are described in this Statement. All provisions in this Statement relating to the Committee shall be operative until such time the delegation of duties by the Trustees and/or Commissioners is revoked.

Responsibility for selecting and providing direction to Investment Managers, Investment Advisors, custodians, and other administrators required for the management of the Plan's assets and for implementing overall investment decisions has been delegated to the Committee which shall report to the Trustees regarding selections made and investment performance. The Trustees shall act in accordance with the terms of this Statement, as updated from time to time by the Commissioners, and as communicated to the Trustees in writing.

Purpose of the Plan

The Plan was established for the purpose of providing retirement benefits to eligible employees and their beneficiaries. The Plan was closed to new employees hired after December 31, 1996. The Plan is a governmental, defined-benefit pension plan which provides retirement, early retirement, disability, termination, and death benefits based upon a formula that includes final average compensation, years of credited service, and a pension benefit percentage. To this end, an investment portfolio is maintained to invest employer contributions and to reinvest income.

Investment Philosophy

The Commissioners, Trustees and the Committee recognize their respective Fiduciary duties to invest the Plan's assets in formal compliance with the Prudent Man Rule. The Trustees interpret this to mean that, in addition to the specific guidelines and restrictions set forth in this document, the assets of the Plan shall be actively managed -- that is, investment decisions regarding the particular securities to be purchased or sold shall be the result of the conscious exercise of discretion. Further, the Trustees recognize that, commensurate with its overall objective of maximizing long-range returns while maintaining a high standard of portfolio quality and consistency of return, it is necessary that proper diversification of assets be maintained both among and within the classes of securities held. Within this context of active management and the necessity for adherence to proper diversification, the Trustees and the Committee rely upon appropriate professional advice.

Delegation of Responsibilities

Retirement Plan Committee

The Committee acknowledges its responsibility as a fiduciary to the Plan. In this regard, the Committee must act prudently and for the exclusive interest of the Plan's participants and beneficiaries.

Specifically, the Committee's responsibilities include:

- 1. Complying with the provisions of pertinent federal, state, and local laws and regulations relating to the investment of Plan assets.
- 2. Evaluating and appointing a qualified manager(s) and advisor(s) to invest, advise and manage the Plan's assets.
- 3. Communicating the investment goals, objectives, and standards to the investment managers including any material changes that may subsequently occur.
- 4. Determining, with the advice of the Investment Advisor ("Advisor"), how Plan assets should be allocated among various asset classes.
- 5. Reviewing and evaluating the results of the Investment Manager(s) ("Manager(s)") in context with established standards of performance.
- 6. Taking whatever corrective action is deemed prudent and appropriate when an investment manager fails to perform as mutually expected.
- 7. Notifying the Manager(s) of:a) Significant changes in the Plan cash flow and/or cash flow needs; and

b) Any matter which bear upon the proper investment management of the Plan's assets, including pertinent financial, legal, and actuarial information.

- 9. Monitoring all costs associated with the administration of the Plan's investments to ensure that the costs are reasonable with market averages.
- 10. Reviewing any program that may mitigate or offset costs.
- 11. Appointing or removing third party administrators, as deemed prudent.
- 12. Facilitating required communications to Plan participants and third-party administrators.
- 13. Recommending to the Commissioners alterations to the Plan's design to address changes in business needs and industry practices.
- 14. Taking any action necessary to carry out the terms of the Plan.

The Committee has authority to carry out all administrative and investment duties for the Plan but does not have the authority to freeze or terminate the Plan.

The Committee shall give consideration to and have an understanding of the following prior to retaining professionals:

- 1. Establish standards/requirements/appropriateness of services.
- 2. Identify appropriate candidates for the position.
- 3. Solicit bids and proposals.
- 4. Conduct interviews.
- 5. Check references.
- 6. Make reasoned decisions based on all information, including:
 - a) Philosophy/Goals (i.e., Mission Statement)
 - b) Ownership/Management/Organizational Structure/Turnover
 - c) Operational History/Growth Plan
 - d) Infrastructure: Resources/Tools-of-the-Trade
 - e) Financial Condition
 - f) Educational Background/Industry Experience
 - g) Professional Qualifications
 - h) Risk Controls/ Insurance
 - I) Criminal, Civil, Regulatory History
 - j) Fees
 - k) Liquidity
- 7. Document the decision process.
- 8. Verify compliance with federal and state laws; specifically, Act 314, and investment guidelines.
- 9. Establish standards of conduct, terms and conditions of relationship (Written Contract/Agreement).

Investment Advisor

In carrying out its delegated responsibilities, the Committee considers the services of an Advisor as appropriate to assist in the placement of investment funds. The primary role of the Advisor is to provide independent, objective, third-party advice and counsel that will enable the Committee to make well-informed and timely decisions regarding the investment of the Plan's assets.

The Advisor's role is that of an advisor to the Plan. The Advisor acknowledges its responsibilities as a Fiduciary under Act 314. The Advisor acknowledges that it is a registered investment advisor under either the Investment Advisors Act of 1940 or the Michigan Uniform Securities Act.

Investment advice concerning the investment management of Plan assets will be offered by the Advisor, and will be consistent with the investment objectives, policies, guidelines and constraints as established in this statement. In specific terms, the primary responsibilities of the Advisor are as follows:

- 1. Measure and evaluate investment performance each calendar quarter.
- 2. Evaluate the Plan's tolerance for risk.
- 3. Advise regarding appropriate investment objectives and goals based on the Plan's needs and risk tolerance.
- 4. Determine what degree of potential market volatility should be factored into the investment approach.
- 5. Provide advice regarding optimal allocation of assets, based on all of the above.

Providing a Range of Capabilities

The Advisor is a third party retained by the Committee to assist in several key areas of the management of financial assets.

The Advisor may be asked to:

- 1. Gather and evaluate statistical information on the financial assets, investment needs, and risk parameters.
- 2. Analyze and understand the implications of historic capital market behavior, particularly with regard to the trade-off between total return and investment risk.
- 3. Maintain data on the universe of available professional investment managers. Categorize (as to investment style and discipline) and evaluate the qualifications of the individual management firms.
- 4. Provide periodic Asset Allocation studies and updates.
- 5. Conduct periodic trustee educational workshops.
- 6. Provide information with respect to alternate investments.
- 7. Monitor the investment of the Plan's assets for compliance with Act 314.
- 8. Analyze and evaluate the Plan's investment performance, and the performance of its investment managers, both past and ongoing.
- 9. Make specific and timely recommendations for the consideration of the Committee during each phase of the investment management process.
- 10. Monitor all costs associated with the administration of the Plan's investments to ensure that they are reasonable with market averages.

Making Recommendations

Investment Policy - The Advisor may be asked to recommend an appropriate investment policy that will meet the Plan's needs. This includes recommending investment objectives and guidelines that adhere to the goals and tolerance for risk. The Advisor may be asked to provide an appropriate model of Asset Allocation composed of

equity, fixed-income, money market instruments or Alternative Investments designed to meet the established objectives.

Manager Selection - The Advisor may be asked to recommend the best qualified and most appropriate Manager(s) candidates for implementing the established investment policy. The Advisor shall be capable of utilizing a well-established system to select suitable Manager(s) candidates from both a local and national investment manager database.

Manager Performance Review and Evaluation

The Advisor shall provide the Committee with performance reports and ongoing quality control to assure that the standards and investment objectives are maintained. Performance reports generated by the Advisor shall be compiled at least quarterly and communicated to the Committee for review. The investment performance of total portfolios, as well as asset class components, will be measured against commonly accepted performance benchmarks. Consideration shall be given to the extent to which the investment results are consistent with the investment objectives, goals, and guidelines as set forth in this statement. The Committee intends to evaluate the portfolio(s) over at least a three-year period, but reserves the right to terminate a Manager(s) for any reason including the following:

- 1. Investment performance which is significantly less than anticipated given the discipline employed and the risk parameters established, or unacceptable justification of poor results.
- 2. Failure to adhere to any aspect of this Statement of Investment Policy, including communication and reporting requirements.
- 3. Significant qualitative changes to a Manager(s) organization or strategy.

Manager(s) shall be reviewed regularly regarding performance, personnel, strategy, research capabilities, organizational and business matters, and other qualitative factors that may impact their ability to achieve the desired investment results.

Investment Manager(s)

Each Manager acknowledges its responsibility as an investment Fiduciary under Act 314. Each Manager acknowledges that it is a registered investment advisor under either the Investment Advisors Act of 1940 or the Michigan Uniform Securities Act. Each Manager will have full discretion to make all investment decisions for the assets placed under its control, while observing and operating within all policies, guidelines, constraints, and philosophies as outlined in this statement.

Adherence to Policy Guidelines and Objectives

The assets of the Plan are to be managed in accordance with the policy guidelines and objectives expressed herein as well as any additional guidelines provided separately. Assets shall be invested in strict compliance with Act 314. Each Manager shall manage its individual portfolio in compliance with Act 314.

Discretionary Authority

Each Manager is expected to exercise complete investment discretion. Such discretion includes decisions to buy, hold and sell equities or fixed income securities (including cash equivalents) in amounts and proportions reflective of the Manager's current investment strategy and compatible with the investment guidelines.

Each Manager is expected, within the limitation of the account size, to diversify the portfolio to minimize the risk of large losses unless, under the circumstances, it is clearly prudent not to so diversify. The Manager shall invest the assets of the Plan with the same care, skill, prudence and diligence under the circumstances then prevailing that a prudent man, acting in a like capacity and familiar with such matters, would use in the conduct of an enterprise of a like character and with such aims. The investment manager will provide the Committee with suggested strategy which might be changed or adopted to better suit the investment guidelines adopted by the Committee.

Communications

Each Manager is responsible for communicating with the Committee regarding all significant matters pertaining to the investment of the Plan's assets. The Committee shall be kept apprised of substantive changes in investment strategy, asset mix, portfolio structure, and market value of the Plan's assets. If requested, Manager(s) will meet with the Committee on a quarterly basis to review the portfolio and the investment outlook.

Reporting

Each Manager is expected to provide:

- 1. INITIALLY, a written statement (per management agreement) acknowledging their acceptance of the guidelines and performance standards herein stated.
- 2. AT LEAST QUARTERLY, a portfolio composition report to the Committee of the funds under their management. The report shall contain as a minimum the following data:

a. Investment Review

- i. Account characteristics;
- ii. Investment summary to include asset description, cost, date, unit value, market value, percent of market, current yield, unrealized gains/losses, and estimated annual income;
- iii. A measurement of portfolio duration (for fixed-income investments); and
- b. Summary and statement of assets under management.
- 3. At the request of the Committee, participation in a review meeting, the agenda to include, but not restricted to
 - a. A review and re-appraisal of the herein contained Statement;
 - b. A brief review of the recent capital market environment to include discussion of any event particularly pertinent to the management of this portfolio;
 - c. A commentary on investment results in light of the appropriate standards of performance as stated herein;
 - d. A synopsis of key investment decisions made by the Manager, the underlying rationale, and how those decisions could impact future results;

- e. Recommendations as to changes in goals or standards, based upon material and sustained changes in the capital markets;
- 4. UPON WRITTEN OR ORAL REQUEST
 - a. Copies of all documentation in support of any investment activity;
 - b. A summary of receipts and disbursements;
 - c. A listing of assets acquired and disposed of;
 - d. Evidence of suitable insurance coverage of the Manager's fiduciary responsibilities.
- 5. IMMEDIATE NOTIFICATION
 - a. Notice of material changes in the Manager's outlook, policy, and tactics
 - b. Notice of material changes in ownership, organizational structure, financial condition, senior staffing and management of the Manager's organization.

Each manager's investment guidelines and performance objectives are made a part of their investment management agreement. Compliance with these guidelines and objectives is evaluated during the quarterly investment performance evaluation process.

<u>Custodian</u>

The primary responsibilities of the custodian ("Custodian") are to:

- 1. Provide adequate safekeeping services.
- 2. Settle securities transactions on time.
- 3. Collect trust fund income when due.
- 4. Provide adequate accounting services.
- 5. Prepare useful, accurate, and timely investment reports.
- 6. Provide adequate cash-management services.
- 7. Provide adequate administrative support.
- 8. Develop and maintain adequate data processing capabilities.
- 9. Handle proxy administration promptly and accurately.
- 10. Complete and file timely proof of claims for settlements of security class action suits and monitor the processing to ensure claims are received.

Plan Investment Policy

The Plan is maintained to provide retirement benefits for the participants and their beneficiaries. The Plan is established in accordance with the laws of the State of Michigan whereby it operates and is controlled, as to its investments, by PA 314.

The Trustees (or their delegate) are authorized and permitted by the Plan Document and under Michigan law to engage the services of a Manager(s), Advisor and Custodian and to set the direction for the investments. The Trustees have delegated these duties to the Committee.

The Trustees require that the Manager(s), Advisor and Custodian comply with all applicable laws, rules and regulations. Manager(s) will be given full discretion in managing the funds within this Statement.

Plan Investment Objectives

The Trustee outlook regarding Plan assets is intended to result in moderate, long-term capital appreciation through moderate risk-taking. The Trustees recognize that risk (i.e., the uncertainty of future events), volatility (i.e., the potential for variability of asset values), and the potential of loss in purchasing power (due to inflation) are present to some degree with <u>all</u> types of investment vehicles. While high levels of risk are to be avoided, the assumption of a moderate level of risk is warranted and encouraged in order to allow the opportunity to achieve satisfactory results consistent with the objectives and character of the Plan. The policies and restrictions contained in this Statement should not impede the Manager to attain the overall Plan objectives, nor should they exclude the Manager from appropriate investment opportunities.

The Plan's overall investment objective is to earn an average, annual return of 6.0% over five-year rolling periods. Achievement of this objective is likely to result in stable to declining future contribution rates and ensure its ability to pay retirement benefits for all plan participants.

The Plan's objective is based on the expected returns under the Strategic Asset Allocation policy, which follows. This Strategic Asset Allocation policy is likely to result in normal fluctuation in the Plan's actual return, year to year. The expected level of risk (volatility, i.e. return fluctuation) is appropriate given the Plan's current and expected tolerance for short-term return fluctuations. Appropriate diversification of Plan assets will reduce the Plan's investment return volatility.

Asset Allocation Policy

This Strategic Asset Allocation policy is consistent with the achievement of the Plan's financial needs and overall investment objectives. Asset classes are selected based on the expected long-term returns, individual reward/risk characteristics, and correlation with other asset classes, manager roles, and fulfillment of the Plan's long-term financial needs. Conformance with PA 314 of 1965 and amendments thereof is also considered.

The Commissioners established an allocation range for each asset class in recognition of the need to vary exposure within and among different asset classes, based on investment opportunities and changing capital market conditions. The Commissioners selected the target allocation for each asset class based on the Plan's current financial condition, expected future contributions, withdrawals, plan expenses and current investment opportunities, notwithstanding short-term performance. The Commissioners intend to review these allocation targets at least annually, focusing on changes in the Plan's financial needs, investment objectives, and asset class performance. Lansing Board of Water and Light Defined Benefit Plan and Trust for Employees' Pensions

Target Asset Allocation

Asset Class	Manager Role	Allocation Range	<u>Target</u> Allocation
Total Equity	Active/Passive	40 to 70%	55%
US Large Cap Equity	Active/Passive	20 to 30%	25%
US SMID Cap Equity	Active	5 to 15%	10%
Non-U.S. Equities	Active, Broad or Focused	15 to 25%	20%
Total Fixed Income	Active/Passive Core, Active Opportunistic, Intermediate Diversified	20 to 50%	40%
Core Fixed Income	Active/Passive Core, Intermediate Diversified	10 to 30%	20%
Multi-Sector Fixed Income	Active Fixed Income	5 to 15%	10%
Liquid Absolute Return Fixed Income	Active Fixed Income	5 to 15%	10%
Real Estate	Core	0 to 10%	5%
Cash Equivalents	Active, money market fund	0 to 5%	0%
	Total Fund		100.0%

The Trustees recognize that the transition to the above target allocations will be achieved over an appropriate period of time, based upon manager availability, selection and approval as well as portfolio needs and constraints.

The Trustees acknowledge that alternative asset classes are available and intend to periodically evaluate the merits of using different asset classes. The Trustees also recognize the benefits of diversifying manager roles within a given asset class and intend to periodically evaluate this decision as well as the active versus passive management decision.

In order to preserve capital gains and protect principal during periods of market duress, a short-term U.S. government and/or high-quality credit securities fund may be used. Given the infrequent short-term use and specialized purpose of this fund, it is not included in either the Policy Index or Target Asset Allocation.

Administrative and Investment Review Procedures

Review of Policies

All investment policies and investment management guidelines will be reviewed annually by the Trustees, or whenever circumstances change to the extent that the policies may be ineffective or inappropriate.

General Review

All those responsible for investment of the Plan's assets shall submit a report or meet with the Committee to review their activities for the current year and discuss proposed changes that are anticipated.

Review of Investment Performance

The Committee will monitor the investment performance of each manager and the overall deployment of the Plan's assets. Monitoring may include periodic meetings with the Manager(s), and a quarterly performance evaluation performed by the Advisor.

Each performance evaluation will include:

- 1. The present and prospective economic climate;
- 2. Current period and historical, time-weighted rates of return for the overall Plan, including an evaluation against the previously specified performance standards;
- 3. Current period and historical, time-weighted rates of return for each Manager, including an evaluation against the previously specified performance standards;
- 4. Additional quantitative measures and analysis will be employed to objectively monitor each Manager's compliance with investment policies and guidelines.
- 5. An understanding of the strategy being used by each Manager to carry out the current Investment Policy; and
- 6. Opportunities available within current and prospective asset categories.

The Committee requests that all documents, exhibits, written materials, etc. to be used during the meetings be submitted in advance.

Individual Investment Manager Objectives

On a quarterly basis, the performance of each of the investment managers will be compared to a relevant Benchmark Index and to a relevant universe of investment management firms. The ongoing review and evaluation of investment manager results will be the responsibility of the Committee, with the assistance of the Advisor.

The primary emphasis of the review of each investment manager will be placed on relative rates of return and risk as compared against relevant benchmarks, peers and expectations for each specific manager.

Over a market cycle (usually 3-5 years), the following are the performance expectations for each portfolio:

- The total return of each portfolio should exceed the total return of the relevant index.
- The total return of each portfolio should rank median or higher when compared to the relevant peer group.

In addition to relative rates of return each portfolio's performance will be evaluated based on its relative risk profile as measured by its standard deviation and other benchmark relative statistics; risk adjusted returns as measured by the portfolio's Sharpe ratio and performance in up and down markets.

Passive portfolio allocations are expected to approximate the risk and return profile of the appropriate benchmark.

Rebalancing Policy – Overall Fund Allocation

The system of Asset Allocation rebalancing to be utilized involves a target asset mix around which variance is allowed within prescribed limits. Rebalancing will be addressed when an asset-class limit is reached or exceeded. In addition to monitoring target and actual allocations quarterly, the Committee will formally review the policy and actual allocations in consideration of anticipated cash flow.

Review of Investment Management

Manager(s) are responsible for frequent and open communication (in writing) with the Committee and the Advisor on all significant matters pertaining to Investment Policy and the management of the Plan's assets, including, but not limited to:

- 1. A quarterly report of major changes in each Manager's investment outlook, investment strategy and portfolio structure.
- 2. Any significant changes in ownership, organizational structure, financial conditions, or senior personnel staffing of each Manager's organization.
- 3. Any investment guidelines which inhibit the fulfillment of a Manager's Fiduciary duties, inappropriately restrict performance, or prevent the manager from meeting their performance standards.

Proxy Voting

The Trustees confer the right to vote proxies to the Manager(s), unless the Manager(s) are otherwise notified by the Committee in writing. It is expected that Manager(s) will vote for the sole benefit of the Plan participants and beneficiaries, considering those factors that may affect the value of the Plan's investments and not subordinate the interests of the participants and beneficiaries in their retirement income to unrelated objectives.

A summary of votes cast shall be submitted to the Committee on an annual basis. This summary must identify the company, number of shares held, subject proxy issues, actual vote (whether for or against the Committee's recommendation), and justification.

Directed Brokerage

Regarding directed brokerage, the Trustees do not require the Manager(s) to trade securities through an individual or set of broker-dealers. The Trustees wish to give the Manager(s) full discretion over their choice of broker-dealers, so long as the Plan's total cost or proceeds of transactions are the most favorable under the circumstances.

<u>Tenure</u>

While the relationship with Manager(s) is expected to be ongoing, the Committee reserves the right to terminate their relationship with any retained Manager at any time they deem appropriate.

In General Managers are fiduciaries with discretion to implement the guidelines within the direction provided by this Statement. All Managers are expected to be familiar with and follow the investment guidelines established under Michigan PA Act 314 with amendments.

Managers should present (and obtain approval on) material changes in their investment style, philosophy or process to the Committee before implementing any changes on behalf of the Plan.

Managers (except commingled funds) are prohibited from using warrants, options, futures, collectibles, leverage, mutual funds (money market funds exempted), LLCs, ETFs, unit investment trusts, margin purchases or short sales, securities of Plan service providers (custodial bank notwithstanding), and loaning or pledging securities (certain index funds exempted). While commingled funds are exempt from the prohibited securities noted above, they are expected to be managed within the guidelines set forth for each fund. Commingled fund managers are required to comply with the appropriate performance standards and reporting requirements contained in this document.

If a Manager would like to purchase a security that falls outside of this Plan's investment guidelines (commingled funds exempted), or is in doubt as to the goal and intent of these guidelines, they should submit a written request for clarification to the Committee prior to purchase. Any security not specifically defined or permitted within is prohibited for investment on behalf of this Plan.

Cash Equivalents The cash equivalents Manager may invest in any institutional money market fund ("Fund") that follows the following objectives and policies:

- 1. The Fund seeks to provide current income while maintaining liquidity and a stable share price of \$1.
- 2. The Fund invests primarily in high-quality, short-term money market instruments, including certificates of deposit, Bankers Acceptances, commercial paper (except ABS commercial paper), and other money market securities.
- 3. To be considered high-quality, a security generally must be rated in one of the two highest credit-quality categories for short-term securities by at least two

nationally recognized rating services (or by one, if only one rating service has rated the security).

- 4. If unrated, the security rating must be determined by the manager, subject to the limitations in item 3.
- 5. The Fund maintains a dollar-weighted average maturity of 90 days or less.

Total Plan Performance

The primary investment objective is to meet the long-term financial goals of the Plan. The Plan's Asset Allocation will be used as the primary tool to achieve this goal.

The Plan is expected to meet or exceed the following objectives over a full market cycle (usually three to five years):

- 1) Earn a rate of return after all expenses that equals or exceeds the current actuarial assumed rate of return of 6.0%
- 2) The Plan's total return should exceed the total return of the Policy index comprised of the following:

Index	Percent
Russell 1000S&P 500	25%
Russell 2500	10%
MSCI ACWI ex-US	20%
Bloomberg US Aggregate	40%
NFI ODCE (net) Index	5%

- 3) The Plan's total return should rank at median or above when compared to a universe of other portfolios with a similar equity allocation.
- 4) In addition to relative rates of return the Plan's performance will be evaluated based on its relative risk profile as measured by its standard deviation, beta, correlation to the Policy Index, risk adjusted returns as measured by the Plan's Sharpe ratio and performance in up and down markets.

Conclusion

It is in the intent of this Statement to state an attitude and/or philosophy which will guide Managers toward the performance desired. It is further intended that these objectives be sufficiently specific, but also sufficiently flexible.

It is the opinion of the Commissioners that these limitations and guidelines will not prevent a Manager from achieving the objectives set forth.

Glossary of Investment Terms

Alternative Investments - These investments are typically made through the purchase of limited partner units in a private limited partnership. Alternative investments include hedge funds, managed futures and commodities, private equity, real assets and other.

Asset Allocation - A process used to determine the optimal allocation of a fund's portfolio among broad asset classes.

Benchmark Index - An index against which the investment performance of a Manager can be compared for the purpose of determining the value added by the Manager. A benchmark portfolio must be of the same style as the Manager, and in particular, similar in terms of risk.

Fiduciary - Indicates the relationship of trust and confidence where one person (the Fiduciary) holds or controls property for the benefit of another person.

Liquidity - In general, liquidity refers to the ease by which a financial asset can be converted into cash. Liquidity is often more narrowly defined as the ability to sell an asset quickly without having to make a substantial price concession.

Standard Deviation - A statistical measure of portfolio risk. It reflects the average deviation of the observations from their sample mean. Standard deviation is used as an estimate of risk since it measures how wide the range of returns typically are. The wider the range of returns, the higher the standard deviation of returns, and the higher the portfolio risk. If returns are normally distributed (i.e. has a bell-shaped curve distribution) then approximately two-thirds of the returns would occur within plus or minus one standard deviation from the sample mean.

Strategic Asset Allocation – The strategic mix of assets designed to accomplish a long-term goal such as funding pension benefits. Generally, policy targets are set for the strategic asset classes with allowable ranges around those targets. The allowable ranges are established to allow flexibility in the management of the investment portfolio.

Tactical Asset Allocation – The tactical mix of assets is short-term in nature with a goal of maximizing returns. This strategy is used to take advantage of current market conditions that may be more favorable for one asset class over another.

Time-weighted Return - A method of measuring the performance of a portfolio over a particular period of time. It is the cumulative compounded rate of return of the portfolio, calculated on each date that cash flow moves into or out of the portfolio.

Universe - A group of Managers/Funds chosen to have an investment style similar to the Manager/Fund and used for comparison purposes.

RESOLUTION 2023-09-XX Revised Defined Benefit Plan Investment Policy Statement

WHEREAS, the Lansing Board of Water & Light (the "Sponsor") sponsors the Lansing Board of Water and Light Defined Benefit Plan and Trust for Employees' Pensions (the "Defined Benefit Plan"); and

WHEREAS, the Retirement Plan Committee periodically reviews the investment policy statement, formally known as the Statement of Investment Policies, Procedures and Objectives, for the Defined Benefit Plan and, as the result of a recent change in US Large Cap Equity fund managers, recommends a revision to the language within the Defined Benefit Plan's investment policy statement; and

WHEREAS, the Retirement Plan Committee recommends the Sponsor adopt the revision which reflects this recommendation in the attached Lansing Board of Water and Light Defined Benefit Plan and Trust for Employees' Pensions Statement of Investment Policies, Procedures and Objectives; and

WHEREAS, the Sponsor wants to adopt the revision reflected in the attached Lansing Board of Water and Light Defined Benefit Plan and Trust for Employees' Pensions Statement of Investment Policies, Procedures and Objectives;

THEREFORE, it is:

RESOLVED, that, after its review, and based on the recommendation from the Retirement Plan Committee, the Sponsor adopts and approves the attached Lansing Board of Water and Light Defined Benefit Plan and Trust for Employees' Pensions Statement of Investment Policies, Procedures and Objectives.

POST-RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN AND TRUST FOR ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEES OF LANSING BOARD OF WATER AND LIGHT

STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT POLICIES, PROCEDURES AND OBJECTIVES

Effective September 26, 2023

STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT POLICIES, PROCEDURES AND OBJECTIVES

Table of Contents

Section	<u>Page</u>
Introduction Updates to Statement Trustees Purpose of the Plan Investment Philosophy	3 3 4
Delegation of Responsibilities Retirement Plan Committee Investment Advisor Investment Manager(s) Custodian	4 5 7
Plan Investment Policy	9
Plan Investment Objectives	10
Asset Allocation Policy	10
Administrative and Investment Review Procedures Review of Policies General Review Review of Investment Performance Rebalancing Policy – Overall Fund Allocation Review of Investment Management Proxy Voting Directed Brokerage Tenure Conclusion	
Glossary of Investment Terms	16

Introduction

The Lansing Board of Water and Light ("**BWL**") is a municipal utility providing drinking water, electricity, steam and chilled water services to the greater Lansing area in mid-Michigan. The Plan receives contributions from the BWL. The Plan pays retirement benefits provided for in the Plan. Plan assets are invested in various types of securities.

This Statement of Investment Policy ("**Statement**") is issued by the Commissioners of the Lansing Board of Water and Light (the "**Commissioners**") for the Post-Retirement Benefit Plan and Trust for Eligible Employees of Lansing Board of Water and Light ("**Plan**"). The purpose of this Statement is to (I) identify and present a set of investment objectives, an Asset Allocation policy, investment performance standards and procedures for managing the Plan's assets; and (ii) clarify the delegation of certain investment and administrative duties to the Retirement Plan Committee ("the "Committee"). This document is intended to be consistent with the provisions of Michigan Public Act 149 of 1999, as amended, and Michigan Public Act 314 of 1965, as amended.

Updates to Statement

The Commissioners retain the authority to approve, revise and update this Statement as necessary to ensure that it is consistent with the BWL's investment philosophy. Any revisions or updates made to the Statement must be formally adopted by the Commissioners through a resolution.

Trustees' and Commissioners' Delegation of Duties

The Commissioners have delegated certain administrative responsibilities to the Committee pursuant to a separate Resolution. Those responsibilities are described in more detail in this Statement.

The Trustees of the Plan are the eight appointed voting Commissioners of the BWL. The Trustees have delegated all investment responsibilities to the Committee pursuant to a separate Resolution. Those investment responsibilities are described in more detail in this Statement. All provisions in this Statement relating to the Committee shall be operative until such time the delegation of duties by the Trustees and/or Commissioners is revoked.

Responsibility for selecting and providing direction to Investment Managers, Investment Advisors, custodians, and other administrators required for the management of the Plan's assets and for implementing overall investment decisions has been delegated to the Committee which shall report to the Commissioners regarding selections made and investment performance. The Trustees, shall act in accordance with the terms of this Statement, as updated from time to time by the Commissioners, and as communicated to the Trustees in writing.

Purpose of the Plan

The Plan was established for the purpose of providing post-retirement medical benefits to eligible employees and their beneficiaries. The Plan is a governmental retiree medical plan which provides medical, prescription drug, dental and life insurance benefits upon a participant's attainment of normal, early or disability retirement status. To this end, an investment portfolio is maintained to invest employer contributions and to reinvest income.

Investment Philosophy

The Commissioners, Trustees and the Committee recognize their respective Fiduciary duties to invest the Plan's assets in formal compliance with the Prudent Man Rule. The Trustees interpret this to mean that, in addition to the specific guidelines and restrictions set forth in this document, the assets of the Plan shall be actively managed -- that is, investment decisions regarding the particular securities to be purchased or sold shall be the result of the conscious exercise of discretion. Further, the Trustees recognize that, commensurate with its overall objective of maximizing long-range returns while maintaining a high standard of portfolio quality and consistency of return, it is necessary that proper diversification of assets be maintained both among and within the classes of securities held. Within this context of active management and the necessity for adherence to proper diversification, the Trustees and the Committee rely upon appropriate professional advice.

Delegation of Responsibilities

Retirement Plan Committee

The Committee acknowledges its responsibility as a Fiduciary to the Plan. In this regard, the Committee must act prudently and for the exclusive interest of the Plan's participants and beneficiaries.

Specifically, the Committee's responsibilities include, but are not limited to the following.

- 1. Complying with the provisions of pertinent federal, state, and local laws and regulations relating to the investment of Plan assets.
- 2. Evaluating and appointing a qualified manager(s) and advisor(s) to invest, advise and manage the Plan's assets.
- 3. Communicating the investment goals, objectives, and standards to the investment managers including any material changes that may subsequently occur.
- 4. Determining, with the advice of the Investment Advisor ("Advisor"), how Plan assets should be allocated among various asset classes.
- 5. Reviewing and evaluating the results of the Investment Manager(s) ("Manager(s)") in context with established standards of performance.
- 6. Taking whatever corrective action is deemed prudent and appropriate when an investment manager fails to perform as mutually expected.
- 7. Notifying the Manager(s) of:
 a) Significant changes in the Plan cash flow and/or cash flow needs; and

b) Any matter which bear upon the proper investment management of the Plan's assets, including pertinent financial, legal, and actuarial information.

- 9. Monitoring all costs associated with the administration of the Plan's investments to ensure that the costs are reasonable with market averages.
- 10. Reviewing any program that may mitigate or offset costs.
- 11. Appointing or removing third party administrators, as deemed prudent.
- 12. Facilitating required communications to Plan participants and third-party administrators.
- 13. Recommending to the Commissioners alterations to the Plan's design to address changes in business needs and industry practices.
- 14. Taking any action necessary to carry out the terms of the Plan.

The Committee has authority to carry out all administrative and investment duties for the Plan but does not have the authority to freeze or terminate the Plan.

The Committee shall give consideration to and have an understanding of the following prior to retaining professionals:

- 1. Establish standards/requirements/appropriateness of services.
- 2. Identify appropriate candidates for the position.
- 3. Solicit bids and proposals.
- 4. Conduct interviews.
- 5. Check references.
- 6. Make reasoned decisions based on all information, including:
 - a) Philosophy/Goals (i.e., Mission Statement)
 - b) Ownership/Management/Organizational Structure/Turnover
 - c) Operational History/Growth Plan
 - d) Infrastructure: Resources/Tools-of-the-Trade
 - e) Financial Condition
 - f) Educational Background/Industry Experience
 - g) Professional Qualifications
 - h) Risk Controls/ Insurance
 - I) Criminal, Civil, Regulatory History
 - j) Fees
 - k) Liquidity
- 7. Document the decision process.
- 8. Verify compliance with federal and state laws and investment guidelines.
- 9. Establish standards of conduct, terms and conditions of relationship (Written Contract/Agreement).

Investment Advisor

In carrying out its delegated responsibilities, the Committee considers the services of an Advisor as appropriate to assist in the placement of investment funds. The primary role of the Advisor is to provide independent, objective, third-party advice and counsel that will enable the Committee to make well-informed and timely decisions regarding the investment of the Plan's assets.

The Advisor's role is that of an advisor to the Plan. The Advisor acknowledges its responsibilities as a Fiduciary. The Advisor acknowledges that it is a registered investment advisor under either the Investment Advisors Act of 1940 or the Michigan Uniform Securities Act.

Investment advice concerning the investment management of Plan assets will be offered by the Advisor, and will be consistent with the investment objectives, policies, guidelines and constraints as established in this statement. In specific terms, the primary responsibilities of the Advisor are as follows:

- 1. Measure and evaluate investment performance each calendar quarter.
- 2. Evaluate the Plan's tolerance for risk.
- 3. Advise regarding appropriate investment objectives and goals based on the Plan's needs and risk tolerance.
- 4. Determine what degree of potential market volatility should be factored into the investment approach.
- 5. Provide advice regarding optimal allocation of assets, based on all of the above.

Providing a Range of Capabilities

The Advisor is a third party retained by the Committee to assist in several key areas of the management of financial assets.

The Advisor may be asked to:

- 1. Gather and evaluate statistical information on the financial assets, investment needs, and risk parameters.
- 2. Analyze and understand the implications of historic capital market behavior, particularly with regard to the trade-off between total return and investment risk.
- Maintain data on the universe of available professional investment managers. Categorize (as to investment style and discipline) and evaluate the qualifications of the individual management firms.
- 4. Provide periodic Asset Allocation studies and updates.
- 5. Conduct periodic trustee educational workshops.
- 6. Provide information with respect to alternate investments.
- 7. Monitor the investment of the Plan's assets for compliance with relevant laws and regulations.
- 8. Analyze and evaluate the Plan's investment performance, and the performance of its investment managers, both past and ongoing.
- 9. Make specific and timely recommendations for the consideration of the Committee during each phase of the investment management process.
- 10. Monitor all costs associated with the administration of the Plan's investments to ensure that they are reasonable with market averages.

Making Recommendations

Investment Policy - The Advisor may be asked to recommend an appropriate investment policy that will meet the Plan's needs. This includes recommending investment objectives and guidelines that adhere to the goals and tolerance for risk. The Advisor may be asked to provide an appropriate model of Asset Allocation composed of

equity, fixed-income, money market instruments or Alternative Investments designed to meet the established objectives.

Manager Selection - The Advisor may be asked to recommend the best qualified and most appropriate Manager(s) candidates for implementing the established investment policy. The Advisor shall be capable of utilizing a well-established system to select suitable Manager(s) candidates from both a local and national investment manager database.

Manager Performance Review and Evaluation

The Advisor shall provide the Committee with performance reports and ongoing quality control to assure that the standards and investment objectives are maintained. Performance reports generated by the Advisor shall be compiled at least quarterly and communicated to the Committee for review. The investment performance of total portfolios, as well as asset class components, will be measured against commonly accepted performance benchmarks. Consideration shall be given to the extent to which the investment results are consistent with the investment objectives, goals, and guidelines as set forth in this statement. The Committee intends to evaluate the portfolio(s) over at least a three-year period, but reserves the right to terminate a Manager(s) for any reason including the following:

- 1. Investment performance which is significantly less than anticipated given the discipline employed and the risk parameters established, or unacceptable justification of poor results.
- 2. Failure to adhere to any aspect of this Statement of Investment Policy, including communication and reporting requirements.
- 3. Significant qualitative changes to a Manager(s) organization or strategy.

Manager(s) shall be reviewed regularly regarding performance, personnel, strategy, research capabilities, organizational and business matters, and other qualitative factors that may impact their ability to achieve the desired investment results.

Investment Manager(s)

Each Manager acknowledges its responsibility as an investment Fiduciary. Each Manager acknowledges that it is a registered investment advisor under either the Investment Advisors Act of 1940 or the Michigan Uniform Securities Act. Each Manager will have full discretion to make all investment decisions for the assets placed under its control, while observing and operating within all policies, guidelines, constraints, and philosophies as outlined in this statement.

Adherence to Policy Guidelines and Objectives

The assets of the Plan are to be managed in accordance with the policy guidelines and objectives expressed herein as well as any additional guidelines provided separately. Assets shall be invested in strict compliance with relevant laws and regulations. Each Manager shall manage its individual portfolio in compliance with relevant laws and regulations.

Discretionary Authority

Each Manager is expected to exercise complete investment discretion. Such discretion includes decisions to buy, hold and sell equities or fixed income securities (including cash equivalents) in amounts and proportions reflective of the Manager's current investment strategy and compatible with the investment guidelines.

Each Manager is expected, within the limitation of the account size, to diversify the portfolio to minimize the risk of large losses unless, under the circumstances, it is clearly prudent not to so diversify. The Manager shall invest the assets of the Plan with the same care, skill, prudence and diligence under the circumstances then prevailing that a prudent man, acting in a like capacity and familiar with such matters, would use in the conduct of an enterprise of a like character and with such aims. The investment manager will provide the Committee with suggested strategy which might be changed or adopted to better suit the investment guidelines adopted by the Committee.

Communications

Each Manager is responsible for communicating with the Committee regarding all significant matters pertaining to the investment of the Plan's assets. The Committee shall be kept apprised of substantive changes in investment strategy, asset mix, portfolio structure, and market value of the Plan's assets. If requested, Manager(s) will meet with the Committee on a quarterly basis to review the portfolio and the investment outlook.

Reporting

Each Manager is expected to provide:

- 1. INITIALLY, a written statement (per management agreement) acknowledging their acceptance of the guidelines and performance standards herein stated.
- 2. AT LEAST QUARTERLY, a portfolio composition report to the Committee of the funds under their management. The report shall contain as a minimum the following data:

a. Investment Review

- i. Account characteristics;
- ii. Investment summary to include asset description, cost, date, unit value, market value, percent of market, current yield, unrealized gains/losses, and estimated annual income;
- iii. A measurement of portfolio duration (for fixed-income investments); and
- b. Summary and statement of assets under management.
- 3. At the request of the Committee, participation in a review meeting, the agenda to include, but not restricted to
 - a. A review and re-appraisal of the herein contained Statement;
 - b. A brief review of the recent capital market environment to include discussion of any event particularly pertinent to the management of this portfolio;
 - c. A commentary on investment results in light of the appropriate standards of performance as stated herein;
 - d. A synopsis of key investment decisions made by the Manager, the underlying rationale, and how those decisions could impact future results;

- e. Recommendations as to changes in goals or standards, based upon material and sustained changes in the capital markets;
- 4. UPON WRITTEN OR ORAL REQUEST
 - a. Copies of all documentation in support of any investment activity;
 - b. A summary of receipts and disbursements;
 - c. A listing of assets acquired and disposed of;
 - d. Evidence of suitable insurance coverage of the Manager's Fiduciary responsibilities.
- 5. IMMEDIATE NOTIFICATION
 - a. Notice of material changes in the Manager's outlook, policy, and tactics
 - b. Notice of material changes in ownership, organizational structure, financial condition, senior staffing and management of the Manager's organization.

Each manager's investment guidelines and performance objectives are made a part of their investment management agreement. Compliance with these guidelines and objectives is evaluated during the quarterly investment performance evaluation process.

Custodian

The primary responsibilities of the custodian ("Custodian") are to:

- 1. Provide adequate safekeeping services.
- 2. Settle securities transactions on time.
- 3. Collect trust fund income when due.
- 4. Provide adequate accounting services.
- 5. Prepare useful, accurate, and timely investment reports.
- 6. Provide adequate cash-management services.
- 7. Provide adequate administrative support.
- 8. Develop and maintain adequate data processing capabilities.
- 9. Handle proxy administration promptly and accurately.
- 10. Complete and file timely proof of claims for settlements of security class action suits and monitor the processing to ensure claims are received.

Plan Investment Policy

The Plan is maintained to provide retiree medical benefits for the participants and their beneficiaries.

The Trustees (or their delegate) are authorized and permitted by the Plan Document and under Michigan law to engage the services of a Manager(s), Advisor and Custodian and to set the direction for the investments. The Trustees have delegated these duties to the Committee.

The Trustees require that the Manager(s), Advisor and Custodian comply with all applicable laws, rules and regulations. Manager(s) will be given full discretion in managing the funds within this Statement.

Plan Investment Objectives

The Trustee outlook for Plan assets is intended to result in moderate, long-term capital appreciation through moderate risk-taking. The Trustees recognize that risk (i.e., the uncertainty of future events), volatility (i.e., the potential for variability of asset values), and the potential of loss in purchasing power (due to inflation) are present to some degree with <u>all</u> types of investment vehicles. While high levels of risk are to be avoided, the assumption of a moderate level of risk is warranted and encouraged in order to allow the opportunity to achieve satisfactory results consistent with the objectives and character of the Plan. The policies and restrictions contained in this Statement should not impede the Manager to attain the overall Plan objectives, nor should they exclude the Manager from appropriate investment opportunities.

The Plan's overall investment objective is to earn an average, annual return of 6.5% over five-year rolling periods. Achievement of this objective is likely to result in stable to declining future contribution rates and ensure its ability to pay retirement benefits for all plan participants.

The Plan's objective is based on the expected returns under the Strategic Asset Allocation policy, which follows. This Strategic Asset Allocation policy is likely to result in normal fluctuation in the Plan's actual return, year to year. The expected level of risk (volatility, i.e. return fluctuation) is appropriate given the Plan's current and expected tolerance for short-term return fluctuations. Appropriate diversification of Plan assets will reduce the Plan's investment return volatility.

Asset Allocation Policy

This Strategic Asset Allocation policy is consistent with the achievement of the Plan's financial needs and overall investment objectives. Asset classes are selected based on the expected long-term returns, individual reward/risk characteristics, and correlation with other asset classes, manager roles, and fulfillment of the Plan's long-term financial needs.

The Commissioners established an allocation range for each asset class in recognition of the need to vary exposure within and among different asset classes, based on investment opportunities and changing capital market conditions. The Commissioners selected the target allocation for each asset class based on the Plan's current financial condition, expected future contributions, withdrawals, plan expenses and current investment opportunities, notwithstanding short-term performance. The Commissioners intend to review these allocation targets at least annually, focusing on changes in the Plan's financial needs, investment objectives, and asset class performance. Post-Retirement Benefit Plan and Trust for Eligible Employees of Lansing Board of Water and Light

Target Asset Allocation

Asset Class	Manager Role	Allocation Range	<u>Target</u> <u>Allocation</u>
Total Equity	Active/Passive	45 to 70%	60%
US Large Cap Equity	Active/Passive	25 to 35%<u>20 to</u> <u>30%</u>	30% 25%
US SMID Cap Equity	Active	5 to 15%<u>10 to</u> <u>20%</u>	10%<u>15%</u>
Non-U.S. Equities	Active, Broad or Focused	15 to 25%	20%
Total Fixed Income	Active/Passive, Core, Opportunistic	10 to 50%	25%
Core Fixed Income	Active/Passive Core, Intermediate Diversified	10 to 35%	15%
Multi-Sector Fixed Income	Active Fixed Income	0 to 10%	5%
Liquid Absolute Return Fixed Income	Active Fixed Income	0 to 10%	5%
Real Estate	Core or value-added	0 to 20%	15%
Cash Equivalents	Active, money market fund	0 to 5%	0%
		0 10 0 /0	
	Total Fund		100.0%

The Trustees recognize that the transition to the above target allocations will be achieved over an appropriate period of time, based upon manager availability, selection and approval as well as portfolio needs and constraints.

The Trustees acknowledge that alternative asset classes are available and intend to periodically evaluate the merits of using different asset classes. The Trustees also recognize the benefits of diversifying manager roles within a given asset class and intend to periodically evaluate this decision as well as the active versus passive management decision.

In order to preserve capital gains and protect principal during periods of market duress, a short-term U.S. government and/or high-quality credit securities fund may be used. Given the infrequent short-term use and specialized purpose of this fund, it is not included in either the Policy Index or Target Asset Allocation.

Administrative and Investment Review Procedures

Review of Policies

All investment policies and investment management guidelines will be reviewed annually by the Trustees, or whenever circumstances change to the extent that the policies may be ineffective or inappropriate.

General Review

All those responsible for investment of the Plan's assets shall submit a report or meet with the Committee to review their activities for the current year and discuss proposed changes that are anticipated.

Review of Investment Performance

The Committee will monitor the investment performance of each manager and the overall deployment of the Plan's assets. Monitoring may include periodic meetings with the Manager(s), and a quarterly performance evaluation performed by the Advisor.

Each performance evaluation will include:

- 1. The present and prospective economic climate;
- 2. Current period and historical, time-weighted rates of return for the overall Plan, including an evaluation against the previously specified performance standards;
- 3. Current period and historical, time-weighted rates of return for each Manager, including an evaluation against the previously specified performance standards;
- 4. Additional quantitative measures and analysis will be employed to objectively monitor each Manager's compliance with investment policies and guidelines.
- 5. An understanding of the strategy being used by each Manager to carry out the current Investment Policy; and
- 6. Opportunities available within current and prospective asset categories.

The Committee requests that all documents, exhibits, written materials, etc. to be used during the meetings be submitted in advance.

Individual Investment Manager Objectives

On a quarterly basis, the performance of each of the investment managers will be compared to a relevant Benchmark Index and to a relevant universe of investment management firms. The ongoing review and evaluation of investment manager results will be the responsibility of the Committee, with the assistance of the Advisor.

The primary emphasis of the review of each investment manager will be placed on relative rates of return and risk as compared against relevant benchmarks, peers and expectations for each specific manager.

Over a market cycle (usually 3-5 years), the following are the performance expectations for each portfolio:

- The total return of each portfolio should exceed the total return of the relevant index.
- The total return of each portfolio should rank median or higher when compared to the relevant peer group.

In addition to relative rates of return, each portfolio's performance will be evaluated based on its relative risk profile as measured by its standard deviation and other benchmark relative statistics; risk adjusted returns as measured by the portfolio's Sharpe ratio and performance in up and down markets.

Passive portfolio allocations are expected to approximate the risk and return profile of the appropriate benchmark.

Rebalancing Policy – Overall Fund Allocation

The system of Asset Allocation rebalancing to be utilized involves a target asset mix around which variance is allowed within prescribed limits. Rebalancing will be addressed when an asset-class limit is reached or exceeded. In addition to monitoring target and actual allocations quarterly, the Committee will formally review the policy and actual allocations in consideration of anticipated cash flow.

Review of Investment Management

Manager(s) are responsible for frequent and open communication (in writing) with the Committee and the Advisor on all significant matters pertaining to Investment Policy and the management of the Plan's assets, including, but not limited to:

- 1. A quarterly report of major changes in each Manager's investment outlook, investment strategy and portfolio structure.
- 2. Any significant changes in ownership, organizational structure, financial conditions, or senior personnel staffing of each Manager's organization.
- 3. Any investment guidelines which inhibit the fulfillment of a Manager's Fiduciary duties, inappropriately restrict performance, or prevent the manager from meeting their performance standards.

Proxy Voting

The Trustees confer the right to vote proxies to the Manager(s), unless the Manager(s) are otherwise notified by the Committee in writing. It is expected that Manager(s) will vote for the sole benefit of the Plan participants and beneficiaries, considering those factors that may affect the value of the Plan's investments and not subordinate the interests of the participants and beneficiaries in their retirement income to unrelated objectives.

A summary of votes cast shall be submitted to the Committee on an annual basis. This

summary must identify the company, number of shares held, subject proxy issues, actual vote (whether for or against the Committee's recommendation), and justification.

Directed Brokerage

Regarding directed brokerage, the Trustees do not require the Manager(s) to trade securities through an individual or set of broker-dealers. The Trustees wish to give the Manager(s) full discretion over their choice of broker-dealers, so long as the Plan's total cost or proceeds of transactions are the most favorable under the circumstances.

<u>Tenure</u>

While the relationship with Manager(s) is expected to be ongoing, the Committee reserves the right to terminate their relationship with any retained Manager at any time they deem appropriate.

In General Managers are fiduciaries with discretion to implement the guidelines within the direction provided by this Statement.

Managers should present (and obtain approval on) material changes in their investment style, philosophy or process to the Committee before implementing any changes on behalf of the Plan.

Managers (except commingled funds) are prohibited from using warrants, options, futures, collectibles, leverage, mutual funds (money market funds exempted), LLCs, ETFs, unit investment trusts, margin purchases or short sales, securities of Plan service providers (custodial bank notwithstanding), and loaning or pledging securities (certain index funds exempted). While commingled funds are exempt from the prohibited securities noted above, they are expected to be managed within the guidelines set forth for each fund. Commingled fund managers are required to comply with the appropriate performance standards and reporting requirements contained in this document.

If a Manager would like to purchase a security that falls outside of this Plan's investment guidelines (commingled funds exempted), or is in doubt as to the goal and intent of these guidelines, they should submit a written request for clarification to the Committee prior to purchase. Any security not specifically defined or permitted within is prohibited for investment on behalf of this Plan.

Cash Equivalents The cash equivalents Manager may invest in any institutional money market fund ("Fund") that follows the following objectives and policies:

- 1. The Fund seeks to provide current income while maintaining liquidity and a stable share price of \$1.
- 2. The Fund invests primarily in high-quality, short-term money market instruments, including certificates of deposit, Bankers Acceptances, commercial paper (except ABS commercial paper), and other money market securities.
- 3. To be considered high-quality, a security generally must be rated in one of the two highest credit-quality categories for short-term securities by at least two

nationally recognized rating services (or by one, if only one rating service has rated the security).

- 4. If unrated, the security rating must be determined by the manager, subject to the limitations in item 3.
- 5. The Fund maintains a dollar-weighted average maturity of 90 days or less.

Total Plan Performance

The primary investment objective is to meet the long-term financial goals of the Plan. The Plan's Asset Allocation will be used as the primary tool to achieve this goal.

The Plan is expected to meet or exceed the following objectives over a full market cycle (usually three to five years):

- 1) Earn a rate of return after all expenses that equals or exceeds the current actuarial assumed rate of return of 6.5%
- 2) The Plan's total return should exceed the total return of the Policy index comprised of the following:

Index	Percent
Russell 1000S&P 500	30% 25%
Russell 2500	10% 15%
MSCI ACWI ex-US	20%
Bloomberg US Aggregate	25%
NFI ODCE (net) Index	15%

- 3) The Plan's total return should rank at median or above when compared to a universe of other portfolios with a similar equity allocation.
- 4) In addition to relative rates of return the Plan's performance will be evaluated based on its relative risk profile as measured by its standard deviation, beta, correlation to the Policy Index, risk adjusted returns as measured by the Plan's Sharpe ratio and performance in up and down markets.

Conclusion

It is in the intent of this Statement to state an attitude and/or philosophy which will guide Managers toward the performance desired. It is further intended that these objectives be sufficiently specific, but also sufficiently flexible.

It is the opinion of the Commissioners that these limitations and guidelines will not prevent a Manager from achieving the objectives set forth.

Glossary of Investment Terms

Alternative Investments - These investments are typically made through the purchase of limited partner units in a private limited partnership. Alternative investments include hedge funds, managed futures and commodities, private equity, real assets and other.

Asset Allocation - A process used to determine the optimal allocation of a fund's portfolio among broad asset classes.

Benchmark Index - An index against which the investment performance of a Manager can be compared for the purpose of determining the value added by the Manager. A benchmark portfolio must be of the same style as the Manager, and in particular, similar in terms of risk.

Fiduciary - Indicates the relationship of trust and confidence where one person (the Fiduciary) holds or controls property for the benefit of another person.

Liquidity - In general, liquidity refers to the ease by which a financial asset can be converted into cash. Liquidity is often more narrowly defined as the ability to sell an asset quickly without having to make a substantial price concession.

Standard Deviation - A statistical measure of portfolio risk. It reflects the average deviation of the observations from their sample mean. Standard deviation is used as an estimate of risk since it measures how wide the range of returns typically are. The wider the range of returns, the higher the standard deviation of returns, and the higher the portfolio risk. If returns are normally distributed (i.e. has a bell-shaped curve distribution) then approximately two-thirds of the returns would occur within plus or minus one standard deviation from the sample mean.

Strategic Asset Allocation – The strategic mix of assets designed to accomplish a long-term goal such as funding medical benefits. Generally, policy targets are set for the strategic asset classes with allowable ranges around those targets. The allowable ranges are established to allow flexibility in the management of the investment portfolio.

Tactical Asset Allocation – The tactical mix of assets is short-term in nature with a goal of maximizing returns. This strategy is used to take advantage of current market conditions that may be more favorable for one asset class over another.

Time-weighted Return - A method of measuring the performance of a portfolio over a particular period of time. It is the cumulative compounded rate of return of the portfolio, calculated on each date that cash flow moves into or out of the portfolio.

Universe - A group of Managers/Funds chosen to have an investment style similar to the Manager/Fund and used for comparison purposes.

RESOLUTION 2023-09-XX Revised VEBA Investment Policy Statement

WHEREAS, the Lansing Board of Water & Light (the "Sponsor") sponsors the Post-Retirement Benefit Plan and Trust for Eligible Employees of Lansing Board of Water and Light (the "VEBA"); and

WHEREAS, the Retirement Plan Committee, established by the Sponsor and delegated certain duties by the Trustees related to the investment of VEBA assets, periodically reviews the target asset allocation for each plan and, as the result of its most recent review, recommends the target asset allocation for US Large Cap Equity be reduced from 30% to 25% and the target asset allocation for US SMID Cap Equity be increased from 10% to 15%; and

WHEREAS, the Retirement Plan Committee also periodically reviews the investment policy statement, formally known as the Statement of Investment Policies, Procedures and Objectives, for the VEBA and, as the result of a recent change in the US Lage Cap Equity fund managers, recommends a revision to language within the VEBA's investment policy statement; and

WHEREAS, the Retirement Plan Committee recommends the Sponsor adopt the revisions which reflect these recommendations in the attached Post- Retirement Benefit Plan and Trust for Eligible Employees of Lansing Board of Water and Light Statement of Investment Policies, Procedures and Objectives; and

WHEREAS, the Sponsor wants to adopt the revisions reflected in the attached Post-Retirement Benefit Plan and Trust for Eligible Employees of Lansing Board of Water and Light Statement of Investment Policies, Procedures and Objectives;

THEREFORE, it is:

RESOLVED, that, after its review, and based on the recommendation from the Retirement Plan Committee, the Sponsor adopts and approves the attached Post-Retirement Benefit Plan and Trust for Eligible Employees of Lansing Board of Water and Light Statement of Investment Policies, Procedures and Objectives.